
CITY OF MENOMONIE COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
Menomonie City Hall 
800 Wilson Avenue 

1st Floor, City Council Chambers 
7:00pm 

Monday – November 3, 2025 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

Pledge of Allegiance 
 
1. Roll Call 
2. Approval of Minutes 
3. Public Comments (other agenda items only). 
4. Old Business:  

a) Review of 2026 Draft General Fund Budget – discussion and possible 
action. 

5. New Business: 
a) Consider proposed contract with the Dunn County Humane Society to 

provide animal shelter-related services from January 1, 2026, through 

December 31, 2026 – discussion and possible action. 

b) Proposed Ordinance 2025-10, an Ordinance rezoning certain lands along 

4th Avenue NE from Limited Multiple Residential District (R-2) to Multiple 

Residential District (R-3) – discussion, possible introduction, and possible 

referral to Plan Commission. 

c) Proposed Ordinance 2025-11, an Ordinance amending portions of 

Section 14-5-2 relating to Subdivision Improvements – discussion, 

possible introduction, and possible referral to Plan Commission. 

d)  Proposed Ordinance 2025-12, an Ordinance amending portions of 

Section 10-4-7 Off Street Parking – discussion, possible introduction, and 

possible referral to Plan Commission. 

e) Proposed Ordinance 2025-13, An ordinance creating Section 10-4-11 Site 

Lighting – discussion, possible introduction, and possible referral to Plan 

Commission. 

f) Consider Statement of Qualification for Affordable Housing Development 

– discussion and possible action. 

g) Consider Special Event Request Winter Daze Parade, on 10th Avenue 

East, South Broadway Street, Main Street East, and 4th Street East on 

December 11, 2025 – discussion and possible action 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

6. Budget Transfers 
7. Mayor’s Report 
8. Communications and Miscellaneous Business 
9. Claims 
10. Licenses 

a) Normal license list – discussion and possible action 
11. Adjourn 

“PUBLIC ACCESS” 

NOTE: Members of the public may view City Council meetings via Zoom 
Teleconference / Video Conference or over the internet by going to 
https://zoom.us/join (URL for Zoom meeting), or by calling 1 312 626 6799. The 
Access Code for the meeting is 847 6284 1601. Please note this is for viewing 
purposes ONLY. If you wish to participate, you must appear in person at the 
meeting.  
 
NOTE: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of 
individuals with disabilities. For additional information or to request the service, 
contact the City Clerk or the City Administrator at 715-232-2221.  

https://zoom.us/join


CITY OF MENOMONIE COUNCIL MEETING 
 

STAFF COMMENTS 
 

Monday – November 3, 2025 
 
 

Page 1 of 5 
 

2. Approval of Minutes 
 
Draft minutes from the City Council Meeting on October 20, 2025, are enclosed.  
If the Council concurs, the appropriate motion would be Approve the Minutes 
from the October 20, 2025, City Council Meeting (simple majority). 
 

4. Old Business 
 
a) Enclosed is a copy of the draft 2026 General Fund Budget with updated 

accounts. City Staff is waiting for additional information from the state to 
include in the draft budget. The City Administrator and Department Heads 
will be present at the meeting to answer Council questions.   

 
5. New Business 

 
a) Enclosed is the proposed agreement between the City of Menomonie and 

Dunn County Humane Society to provide animal shelter-related services from 
January 1, 2026, through December 31, 2026.  Administrator Atkinson will be 
on hand to present the agreement and answer any questions that the City 
Council might have.  If the City Council concurs with the agreement, the 
appropriate motion would be Approve the Animal Shelter-Related 
Agreement with the Dunn County Humane Society for the Period of January 
1, 2026, through December 31, 2026, for the Amount of $36,487.65 (roll call 
vote).   
 

  



CITY OF MENOMONIE COUNCIL MEETING 
 

STAFF COMMENTS 
 

Monday – November 3, 2025 
 
 

Page 2 of 5 
 

b) Enclosed is a memorandum regarding Proposed Ordinance 2025-10, an 
Ordinance rezoning certain lands along 4th Avenue NE from Limited Multiple 
Family Residential District (R-2) to Multiple Family Residential District (R-3).  
Public Works Director Schofield will be on hand to present the proposed 
memorandum and answer any questions the City Council might have.  If the 
City Council is willing to consider this Rezoning Ordinance, the appropriate 
motions would be: 

• Introduce Proposed Ordinance 2025-10, an Ordinance Rezoning 
Certain Lands along 4th Avenue NE from Limited Multiple Family 
Residential District (R-2) to Multiple Family Residential District (R-3) 
(no vote). 

• Refer Proposed Ordinance 2025-10, an Ordinance Rezoning Certain 
Lands along 4th Avenue NE from Limited Multiple Family Residential 
District (R-2) to Multiple Family Residential District (R-3) to the Plan 
Commission for Review and Recommendation (simple majority vote).   

 
c) Enclosed is a memorandum regarding Proposed Ordinance 2025-11, an 

Ordinance amending portions of Title 14, Chapter 5, Section 2 Subdivision 
Regulations Streets and Utilities.  Public Works Director Schofield will be on-
hand to present the memorandum and answer any questions the City Council 
might have.  If the City Council is willing to consider Proposed Ordinance 
2025-11, the appropriate motions would be:  

• Introduce Proposed Ordinance 2025-11, an Ordinance amending 
portions of Title 14, Chapter 5, Section 2 Subdivision Regulations 
Streets and Utilities (no vote), 

• Refer Proposed Ordinance 2025-11, an Ordinance amending 
portions of Title 14, Chapter 5, Section 2 Subdivision Regulations 
Streets and Utilities, to the Plan Commission for Review and 
Recommendation (simple majority). 

 
  



CITY OF MENOMONIE COUNCIL MEETING 
 

STAFF COMMENTS 
 

Monday – November 3, 2025 
 
 

Page 3 of 5 
 

d) Enclosed is a memorandum regarding Proposed Ordinance 2025-12, an 
Ordinance amending portions of Title 10, Chapter 4, Section 7 Off Street 
Parking.  Public Works Director Schofield will be on-hand to present the 
memorandum and answer any questions the City Council might have.  If the 
City Council is willing to consider Proposed Ordinance 2025-12, the 
appropriate motions would be:  

• Introduce Proposed Ordinance 2025-12, an Ordinance amending 
portions of Title 10, Chapter 4, Section 7 Off Street Parking (no vote), 

• Refer Proposed Ordinance 2025-12, an Ordinance amending portions 
of Title 10, Chapter 4, Section 7 Off Street Parking, to the Plan 
Commission for Review and Recommendation (simple majority). 

 
e) Enclosed is a memorandum regarding Proposed Ordinance 2025-13, an 

Ordinance amending portions of Title 10, Chapter 4, Section 11 Site Lighting.  
Public Works Director Schofield will be on-hand to present the memorandum 
and answer any questions the City Council might have.  If the City Council is 
willing to consider Proposed Ordinance 2025-13, the appropriate motions 
would be:  

• Introduce Proposed Ordinance 2025-13, an Ordinance creating Title 
10, Chapter 4, Section 11 Site Lighting (no vote), 

• Refer Proposed Ordinance 2025-13, an Ordinance creating Title 10, 
Chapter 4, Section 11 Site Lighting, to the Plan Commission for 
Review and Recommendation (simple majority). 

 
f) Enclosed is a memorandum regarding the Affordable Housing Development 

Request for Statements of Qualification.  Public Works Director Schofield 
will be on-hand to present the memorandum and answer any questions 
that the City Council might have.  If the City Council concurs with revising 
and reissuing the Request for Statements of Qualification, the appropriate 
motion would be Reject the Affordable Housing Development Statement 
of Qualification (simple majority). 
 



CITY OF MENOMONIE COUNCIL MEETING 
 

STAFF COMMENTS 
 

Monday – November 3, 2025 
 
 

Page 4 of 5 
 

g) Enclosed is the Special Event Permit Request from Downtown Menomonie 
to hold the Winter Daze Parade on 10th Avenue East, South Broadway 
Street, Main Street East and 4th Avenue East on Thursday December 11, 
2025.  If the City Council concurs, the appropriate motion would be 
Approve the Special Event Permit for the Winter Daze Parade on 10th 
Avenue East, South Broadway Street, Main Street East and 4th Avenue East 
on December 11, 2025, as presented (simple majority). 
 

6. Budget Transfers 
 
As of this writing, no budget transfers have been identified.  If any budget 
transfers are identified, a revised list will be distributed before the meeting. In 
that case, the appropriate motion would be Approve the Revised Budget 
Transfers, as presented (roll call vote).    
 

9. Claims 
 
The Claims list is enclosed in the packet.  If the City Council supports paying the 
claims, the appropriate motion would be Approve the Claims List, as Presented 
(roll call vote).     
 
If any additional claims are identified, a revised list will be distributed before the 
meeting. In that case, the appropriate motion would be Approve the Revised 
Claims List as Presented (roll call vote).     
 

  



CITY OF MENOMONIE COUNCIL MEETING 
 

STAFF COMMENTS 
 

Monday – November 3, 2025 
 
 

Page 5 of 5 
 

10. Licenses 
 
The Normal License List is enclosed in the packet.  If the City Council concurs, 
the appropriate motion would be Approve the Normal License List, as presented 
(simple majority). 
 
If any additional license applications are received, a revised list will be 
distributed before the meeting. In that case, the appropriate motion would be 
Approve the Revised Normal License List, as presented (simple majority). 

   





 CITY OF MENOMONIE COUNCIL MEETING  
 

OFFICIAL COUNCIL PROCEEDINGS 
 

 
 
 

Page 1 of 4 
 

A regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Menomonie, Dunn County, Wisconsin, was 
held in open session on October 20, 2025, and called to order by Council President Solberg, at 
7:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers.  Council President Solberg announced that she would 
be retaining her right to vote as the Ward 8 representative.  The following members were 
present: Crowe, Sutherland, Yonko, Pickard, Schwebs, Gentz, Solberg, Brennan, Erdman and 
Sommerfeld.  Luther and Mayor Knaack were absent.   

SPECIAL RECOGNITION – A moment of silence was acknowledged for Jacqueline Dotseth who 
served on City Council from April 1978 to April 1985, including two terms as Council Vice 
President and one term as Council President.   

MOTION made by Erdman, seconded by Brennan, and carried unanimously to approve the 
minutes of the October 6, 2025, council meeting.  

PUBLIC COMMENTS – Darrin Witucki, representing the Menomonie Library Board of Trustees, 
spoke in support of agenda item 5 (d).  Mike Jax, representing ConAgra Foods Swiss Miss, spoke 
in support of agenda item 5 (a). 

MOTION was made to waive the rules to allow Mike Jax to address the Council was made by 
Erdman, seconded by Brennan and carried unanimously. MOTION was made by Brennan, 
seconded by Schwebs, and carried unanimously on roll call vote to award the ConAgra DAF 
Construction Contract to R.J. Jurowski Construction at a cost of $3,388,320.00, contingent upon 
recording of the land transfer.   

MOTION was made by Brennan, seconded by Gentz, and carried unanimously on roll call vote to 
approve the Engineering Task Order with Cedar Corporation for Heller Road and Oak Avenue 
Sidewalk at a cost of $9,750 from TID #14.  

MOTION was made by Crowe, seconded by Yonko, and carried unanimously on roll call vote to 
Approve the Tax Collection Agreement with Dunn County for the period of November 1, 2025, 
to October 31, 2026.   

MOTION was made by Brennan, seconded by Erdman, and carried to approve Resolution 2025-
16, regarding Support for Proposed Roof-Mounted Solar Project at Menomonie Public Library.  

MOTION was made by Brennan, seconded by Erdman, and carried unanimously approve the 
Special Event Request for Winterlude Market on City-owned land west of Brewery Nonic on 
December 6, 2025.   



 

Page 2 of 4 
 

NO ACTION was taken on the 2026 General Fund Draft Budget. 

BUDGET TRANSFERS – MOTION was made by Brennan, seconded by Pickard and carried 
unanimously on roll call vote to Approve the Budget Transfer, as presented.  

MAYOR’S REPORT – President Solberg shared the Mayor’s report in his absence and announced 
that this past week the Mayor spoke at the Boys & Girls Club, visited several nursing homes in 
the area, and his quartet entertained customers at the 75th Anniversary of Fleet Farm, and 
reported that Stout Homecoming this weekend. 

COMMUNICATIONS AND MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS – Alderperson Pickard shared that through 
the Bridge to Hope, Applebee’s will be hosting a “Dying to Donate” fundraiser this Thursday 
evening.  Alderperson Sutherland shared that the high school football playoff games start this 
Friday and the Mustangs will be playing in Onalaska.  Alderperson Crowe shared that Downtown 
Menomonie is hosting their Fall Frolic downtown at 9am, in conjunction with UW-Stout’s 
Homecoming Parade.  Crowe thanked Stepping Stones of Dunn County and Tanglewood Greens 
for putting on a great event for the “Empty Bowls” fundraiser. Alderperson Sommerfeld shared 
that the boat ramp at Point Comfort Park is almost complete.  Alderperson Brennan provided an 
update from the ad-hoc housing committee that they have directed City Staff to work with Legal 
Counsel to draft a proactive rental inspection ordinance based off of the framework introduced 
by GROWW, with a few provisions.     

CLAIMS – MOTION was made by Erdman, seconded by Brennan, and carried unanimously on 
roll call vote to approve payment of the following claims:  

OCTOBER 20, 2025, 2025 CLAIMS 

AMAZON $27.99 

COLFAX MESSENGER $1,096.05 

DIGGERS HOTLINE $187.70 

DIGGERS HOTLINE $187.70 

FLEET FARM $140.56 

HALVERSON BROS $25.95 

INDIANHEAD TRUCK EQUIPMENT $165.64 

JAMAR COMPANY (BARTINGALE) $1,053.75 

REALIVING $200.00 



 

Page 3 of 4 
 

SITE ONE LANDSCAPE SUPPLY $215.02 

STERLING WATER INC $104.95 

US POSTAL SERVICE $230.88 

US POSTAL SERVICE $230.88 

US POSTAL SERVICE $230.88 

US POSTAL SERVICE $230.88 

US POSTAL SERVICE $230.88 

WIPFLI LLP $34,518.90 

WI DEPT OF JUSTICE $91.00 

TOTAL $39,169.61 

PARKING UTILITY CLAIMS  

CHURCHILL TIRE & BATTERY INC $175.10 

CITY TREASURER $172.92 

CIVICPLUS LLC $7,813.31 

CLANCY SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL INC $350.00 

TOTAL  $8,511.33 

 

MOTION was made by Pickard, seconded by Gentz, and carried unanimously to approve the 
following licenses: 

LICENSE YEAR – 2025-2026  

CHANGE OF AGENT: 

Debbie Blodgett – CAPL Retail, LLC, dba Express Lane - 1805 Broadway Street N 

TEMPORARY “CLASS B” WINE LICENSE: 

Menomonie Public Library Foundation – 600 Wolske Bay Road 

• 11/08/2025, Foundation Annual Donor Appreciation Event 



 

Page 4 of 4 
 

MOTION to convene in closed session under Wisconsin Statutes 19.85(1)(e) for the purpose of 
deliberating or negotiating the purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, or 
conducting other specified public business, whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require 
a closed session to discuss/consider possible offers to purchase for 228 Main Street East, 230 
Main Street East, and 244 Main Street East was made by Solberg, seconded by Erdman, and 
carried unanimously on roll call vote. 

MOTION to reconvene in open session under Wisconsin Statutes 19.85(2) was made by Crowe, 
seconded by Gentz, and carried unanimously on roll call vote. 

MOTION to direct City Staff to negotiate the possible purchase of the properties at 228 Main 
Street East, 230 Main Street East and 244 Main Street East, was made by Brennan, seconded by 
Gentz. Brennan, Gentz, Solberg, Pickard, and Yonko voted in support; Crowe, Sutherland, 
Schwebs, Erdman and Sommerfeld voted in opposition.  Motion failed on a 5-5 tie. 

MOTION to adjourn was made by Gentz, seconded by Brennan, and carried unanimously. 

Kate Martin, City Clerk 







































































































































MEMORANDUM 
Eric M. Atkinson, Administrator 
atkinsone@menomonie-wi.gov 

715-232-2221 Ext. 1001 

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

TO:  Mayor Knaack and City Council 

FROM: Eric Atkinson, Administrator 

SUBJECT: Humane Society Services Agreement 

DATE: October 29, 2025 

ATTACHMENTS: Dunn County Humane Society Services Agreement 

Included in your packet for consideration is the annual agreement for animal control services 

between the Dunn County Humane Society and the City of Menomonie for services between 

January 1, 2026, through December 31, 2026. The contract rate is $2.15 per capita for the City of 

Menomonie. The Department of Administration informed the City of Menomonie that its 

population was estimated at 16,971. Thus, the City could reasonably expect the cost of services 

would be $36,487.65. 

The City of Menomonie is required to provide animal control services and has enjoyed a 

longstanding partnership with the Dunn County Humane Society. City Staff recommends 

approving the agreement as presented. If the Council supports the agreement, the appropriate 

action is a Motion to Approve the Animal Shelter-Related Agreement with the Dunn County 

Humane Society for the Period of January 1, 2026, through December 31, 2026, for the Amount 

of $36,487.65. (roll call vote) 

 
 













MEMORANDUM 
David Schofield, Director of Public Works 

dschofield@menomonie-wi.gov 
715-232-2221 Ext.1020  

 
 
 

1 
 

TO:   Mayor Knaack & City Council 
 
FROM:  David Schofield, Director of Public Works  
 
SUBJECT: Proposed Ordinance 2025-10 – Rezoning of Certain Lands Along 4th Avenue NE 
 
DATE:   November 3, 2025 City Council Meeting 
 
 
Bridge to Hope, Inc. has submitted the attached Request for Rezoning from Limited Multiple 
Family Residential District (R-2) to Multiple Family Residential District (R-3) for lands along 4th 
Avenue NE.    
 
Bridge to Hope, Inc. has proposed to construct a new ground mounted solar panel system.  City 
Staff determined that the existing Bridge to Hope campus is spread across two parcels in two 
different zoning districts.  To address this discrepancy, Bridge to Hope has submitted the 
attached Request for Rezone and a certified survey map.   
 
City Staff and Atty. Ludeman have prepared Proposed Ordinance 2025-10 which, if adopted, 
would complete the proposed rezoning.  If the City Council is willing to consider this Rezoning 
Ordinance, the appropriate motions would be: 

• Introduce Proposed Ordinance 2025-10, an Ordinance Rezoning Certain Lands along 4th 
Avenue NE from Limited Multiple Family Residential District (R-2) to Multiple Family 
Residential District (R-3) (no vote). 

• Refer Proposed Ordinance 2025-10, an Ordinance Rezoning Certain Lands along 4th 
Avenue NE from Limited Multiple Family Residential District (R-2) to Multiple Family 
Residential District (R-3) to the Plan Commission for Review and Recommendation 
(simple majority vote).   

 
If these motions are approved, this matter would be reviewed at the November 10, 2025 Plan 
Commission meeting and brought back to the December 1, 2025 City Council meeting, during 
which a public hearing will be held. 
 
Attachments: 

• Location Map 

• Request for Rezoning 

• Proposed Ordinance 2025-10 



Bridge to Hope Rezone Created by: DAS

4th Avenue NE



The Bridge to Hope Inc 
2110 4th Ave N 
Menomonie, WI 54751 
mollym@thebridgetohope.org 
(715) 235-9074 
10-23-2025 

David Schofield 
Director of Public Works 
City of Menomonie 
800 Wilson Ave 
Menomonie, WI 54751 

Subject: Rezoning Application for Parcel # 1725122813251200003 

 

Dear City of Menomonie, 

I am writing to formally request consideration for the rezoning of the property located at 
Parcel # 1725122813251200003 from R-2 zoning to R-3 zoning. This request is intended to 
unify the zoning for The Bridge to Hope’s parcels 

Enclosed with this letter are the completed Request for Rezoning Application, $250 
Application Fee, Legal Description of Rezone Parcel and Exhibit showing rezone parcel to 
assist in your review. I welcome the opportunity to discuss this proposal further and 
address any questions during the review process. 

Sincerely, 
The Bridge to Hope 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DATE: _____________ 

REQUEST FOR REZONING 

NAME:  ________________________________________________________ 

ADDRESS:  ________________________________________________________ 

TELEPHONE NUMBER: ____________________________________________

EMAIL ADDRESS: _____________________________________________________ 

PROPERTY OWNER IF DIFFERENT THAN ABOVE: __________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

LOCATION OF PROPERTY YOU ARE REQUESTING TO BE REZONED (ATTACH MAP): 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

EXACT LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY: 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

CURRENT ZONING: _______________________________________________________________ 

PROPOSED ZONING: ______________________________________________________________ 

PROPOSED USE OF PROPERTY (ATTACH SITE PLAN): 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

___________________________________________________________________________________ 

_______________________________________________ 

Applicant's Signature 

NON-REFUNDABLE FEE:  $250 

Receipt # ______________________  Account - 01.44733  (02) 

To City Council: _____________________ 

To Plan Commission: _________________ 

Publication Dates:_____________________ 

Parcel # 1725122813251200003

10/23/2025

The Bridge to Hope Inc

2110 4th Ave N, Menomonie, WI 54751

(715) 235-9074

mollym@thebridgetohope.org

n/a

NW 1/4 of NE 1/4 of Section 25, Town 28N, Range 13W

R-2

R-3

Continue existing use. The request to rezone is to have the entire campus under the same zoning.

See Attached



Real Property Description: 

A part of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of the Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) of Section Twenty-
five (25), Township Twenty-eight (28) North, Range Thirteen (13) West, City of Menomonie, 
Dunn County, Wisconsin, being further described  as follows: Commencing at the 
Southwest corner of said Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of Northeast Quarter (NE ¼); thence 
North along the West line thereof, 629.55 feet; thence North 89°44’ East, 33.0 feet to the 
point of beginning of the parcel hereby described; thence continuing North 89° 44’ West, 
132 feet; thence South 98.55 feet; thence South 89° 44’ West, 132 feet; thence North 98.55 
feet to the point of beginning. 

 



AutoCAD SHX Text
POINT OF BEGINNING

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE NW-NE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CADD No. 25425 REZONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
%%UREZONE EXHIBIT

AutoCAD SHX Text
2110 4TH AVENUE NORTH MENOMONIE, WI 54751

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
AREA TO REZONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE: 1" =    ' 

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
50

AutoCAD SHX Text
200

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
100

AutoCAD SHX Text
4TH AVE NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
21ST STREET SOUTH





ORDINANCE 2025-10 OF THE ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF MENOMONIE FOR 2025. 
     
An ordinance changing the boundaries of certain districts under the Zoning Ordinance of the City of 
Menomonie. 
 
THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENOMONIE DO ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1.  The district boundaries as shown on "District Map, City of Menomonie, Wisconsin," dated 
April 5, 1971, as amended, are hereby amended and changed as follows: 
 
A part of the Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of the Northeast Quarter (NE ¼) of Section Twenty-five (25), 
Township Twenty-eight (28) North, Range Thirteen (13) West, City of Menomonie, Dunn County, 
Wisconsin, being further described as follows:  
 
Commencing at the Southwest corner of said Northwest Quarter (NW ¼) of Northeast Quarter (NE ¼); 
thence North along the West line thereof, 629.55 feet; thence North 89°44’ East, 33.0 feet to the point of 
beginning of the parcel hereby described; thence continuing North 89° 44’ West, 132 feet; thence South 
98.55 feet; thence South 89° 44’ West, 132 feet; thence North 98.55 feet to the point of beginning.  

 

Be and hereby is changed from Limited Multiple Family Residential District (R-2) to Multiple Family 

Residential District (R-3). 

  

Section 2.  This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of publication as provided in Section 

62.11(4)(a), Wisconsin Statutes. 

 

INTRODUCED                     APPROVED THIS                DAY  

FIRST READING              OF         , 2025 

SECOND READING             _____________________________ 

        MAYOR, Randy Knaack 

PASSED          

PUBLISHED             SUBMITTED BY: 

ATTEST               

    CITY CLERK, Catherine Martin   ALDERPERSON 

 



MEMORANDUM 
David Schofield, Director of Public Works 

dschofield@menomonie-wi.gov 
715-232-2221 Ext.1020  

 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Knaack & City Council 
 
FROM:  David Schofield, Director of Public Works  
 
SUBJECT: Subdivision Improvements Ordinance Amendment 
 
DATE:   November 3, 2025 City Council Meeting 
 
 
City Staff recently noted that the City Code 14-5-2-C-5 contains antiquated requirements for 
street improvements in new subdivisions which conflict with other portions of City Code. 
 
City Staff recommend amending City Code 14-5-2-C-5 to: 
 

5.   Streets: Streets shall be a minimum of thirty-two (32) feet wide (as measured from 
the face of curb to the face of curb), with twelve (12) inches of granular subbase, eight 
(8) inches of crushed aggregate base, three (3) inches of hot mix asphalt pavement, and 
twenty-four (24) inch wide mountable or barrier curb and gutter.  Ribbon curbs with 
roadside ditches are not acceptable.    

 
If the City Council is willing to consider Proposed Ordinance 2025-11, the appropriate motions 
would be:  

• Introduce Proposed Ordinance 2025-11, an Ordinance amending portions of Title 14, 
Chapter 5, Section 2 Subdivision Regulations Streets and Utilities (no vote), 

• Refer Proposed Ordinance 2025-11, an Ordinance amending portions of Title 14, 
Chapter 5, Section 2 Subdivision Regulations Streets and Utilities, to the Plan 
Commission for Review and Recommendation (simple majority). 

 
If these motions are approved, Proposed Ordinance 2025-11 would be reviewed at the 
November 10 Plan Commission meeting and the December 1 City Council meeting, which will 
include a public hearing. 
 
Attachments:   

• Proposed Ordinance 2025-11 
 



14-3-4: FINAL PLAT:
   A.   General Requirements:

      1.   The final plat shall conform, as applicable, to the approved preliminary plat, to sections 236.20
and 236.21, Wisconsin statutes, and to other applicable ordinances and state laws.

      2.   The plat shall be submitted for certification of those agencies having the authority to object to
the plat, as provided in section 236.12, Wisconsin statutes.

      3.   Three (3) copies of the final plat and other required information shall be submitted to the city
plan commission within six (6) months of preliminary plat approval, unless this requirement is waived
by the plan commission.

      4.   The plan commission shall refer the final plat with its recommendations to the common council
within thirty (30) days of its submission, unless this time is extended by the common council.

      5.   Final plats shall be accompanied by additional information required by the city including
construction plans of all improvements to be installed by the subdivider.

      6.   Information shall be submitted at least ten (10) workdays prior to the regular meeting of the
common council at which they may be considered.

      7.   The common council shall approve or reject the final plat within sixty (60) days of its
submission, unless the time is extended by agreement with the subdivider.

      8.   Following approval, final plats shall be recorded in accordance with the requirements of section
236.25, Wisconsin statutes.

   B.   Methods Of Financing:

      1.   No final plat for the subdivision of land in the city, or within an area for which an annexation
petition has been filed, shall be approved by the common council until the subdivider has made
arrangements to install required improvements, as provided under subsection B2 of this section. In
this section, "required improvements" means street improvements, including curb and gutter, water
facilities, sanitary sewer facilities and storm drainage facilities.

      2.   Required improvements may be provided in one of the following ways at the discretion of the
city:

         a.   By entering into a developer's agreement, suitable for recording in the office of the Dunn
County register of deeds, with the city before the final plat is submitted for approval, whereby
subdivider agrees to install the required improvements. The subdivider shall file with said agreement a
bond meeting the approval of the city attorney or a certified check or letter of credit, the choice of the
guarantee being at the discretion of the city, in an amount equal to the estimate of cost of said
improvements as prepared by the city engineer. Such bond, check or letter of credit shall constitute a
guarantee that such improvements will be completed by the subdivider not later than three (3) years
from the date of recording of the plat. It shall constitute a further guarantee that all obligations to
subcontractors for work on the development are satisfied. The agreement will provide for the
subdivider to install the improvements, including engineering and inspection costs reimbursed to the
city by the subdivider, the same to be guaranteed as provided herein.

All contractors and subcontractors who are to be engaged in construction or improvements on
dedicated street rights of way shall be designated as qualified for such work by the city engineer.

         b.   Installation by the city subject to payments by the subdivider as provided in subsections
B2b(1), B2b(2) and B2b(3) of this section. The city may choose this option if the developer
demonstrates to the common council the financial ability to reimburse the city for the installation of
improvements by providing to the city sufficient financial guarantee, marketing plan, feasibility study,



14-5-2: STREETS AND UTILITIES:
   A.   Installation Procedure: Before the final plat of a subdivision located within the city limits or within
an area for which an annexation petition has been filed will be approved, the subdivider shall complete
one of the following alternative procedures with respect to the installation of water facilities, sanitary
sewers, street grading and surfacing, and other required improvements:

      1.   Install such street grading, surfacing and utility improvements in accordance with plans
developed by the city and pay the cost of engineering, legal, administration and inspection by the city
prior to approval of the subdivision.

      2.   Enter into a contract with the city agreeing to install such improvements within a time schedule
set by the plan commission and either file a bond or deposit a certified check with the city clerk, to
guarantee such installations within such time. Such bond or certified check must be approved by the
city attorney and shall be in an amount equal to the total estimated cost of the improvements,
including inspection charges. The construction shall conform to a time schedule which shall not
exceed five (5) years. The installation shall be in accordance with plans developed by the city. The
developer shall pay the costs of engineering, legal, administration and inspection.

      3.   Petition the city clerk for installation of required improvements in accordance with the
applicable city special assessment policy for installation of improvements and waive rights to notice
and hearing for special assessments. This procedure for installation of improvements may be used
only when approved by the common council following recommendation of the plan commission.

When special assessment procedure is used, the subdivider shall furnish evidence and security as
required by the city to ensure payment of levied assessments including deposits and/or bonds.

   B.   Improvement Cost Sharing:

      1.   If any improvement is installed which benefits lands beyond the boundaries of the subdivision,
the city may make provision for causing a portion of the cost of the improvement, representing the
benefit to lands beyond the boundaries of the subdivision, to be assessed against the same and such
portions of the whole cost of said improvements as will represent the benefit to the property within the
subdivision.

      2.   When the proposed subdivision is not adjacent to existing utilities, the developer may request
that the connecting utilities be installed by the city with costs assessed to benefitted properties. If the
area between the subdivision and existing utilities is not developed, the city may require the
installation of connecting utilities as part of required improvements in the subdivision with no
participation by other properties. If assessment of benefits is not currently determined feasible, the
subdivider may enter into an agreement with the city stating that the assessable costs of the utilities
be refunded to the subdivider when benefitted properties are subdivided or connected to utilities. The
agreement shall be consistent with the rules of the Wisconsin public service commission.

   C.   Improvements Required:

      1.   Water Supply: When a proposed subdivision is located adjacent to or reasonably near the
existing service area of a public water system, water lines shall be extended and service connections
shall be stubbed to the property line of each lot. Fire hydrants shall also be provided. The city shall
determine whether public water supply to the subdivision is feasible.

      2.   Sanitary Sewer: When a subdivision is located in an area which can be served by public
sewer, sanitary sewer mains and laterals shall be installed so that each lot is adequately served. The
city shall determine whether the subdivision can be served by public sewer.

      3.   Storm Drainage: A drainage system that will adequately drain surface water runoff within the
subdivision shall be provided including ditches, culverts, easements and piping if required.

      4.   Utilities:



         a.   The subdivider shall make necessary arrangements and pay assessable costs and fees for
the installation of adequate electrical power and telephone within the subdivision. A copy of
agreements for utility installation shall be submitted to the city for approval.

         b.   Electric distribution lines, telephone and telegraph lines, community antenna television
cables, and services constructed within the subdivision shall be buried underground, unless the
common council shall specifically find after study and recommendation by the plan commission that
the placing of utilities underground would not be compatible or feasible within the subdivision.

      5.   Streets: Streets shall be graded to full width and roadways graded to subgrade according to
plans developed by the city. After installation of water and sewer facilities, roadways shall be surfaced
with six inches (6") of three-fourths inch (3/4") maximum size crushed gravel or lime rock and an
asphalt seal coat in accordance with city specifications.

      6.   Public Access: Public access to waterways shall be graded and surfaced as a public street.

      7.   Streetlights:

         a.   The subdivider shall make necessary arrangements and pay costs and fees for the
installation of adequate street lighting within the subdivision. Streetlights shall be installed at street
intersections and at other locations designated by the city. Streetlight wires shall be consistent with
electrical distribution wiring in the subdivision. Where underground wiring is installed the streetlight
wires shall be underground.

         b.   The type of pole and fixture shall comply with standards set by the city. Fixtures shall be high
pressure sodium or mercury vapor and provide a minimum of six thousand (6,000) mean lumens.
Fixture height shall be approximately thirty feet (30').

         c.   Ornamental lighting may be installed if approved by the city.

   D.   Improvements Required; Extraterritorial Area: Improvements shall be installed as required by
applicable city and county ordinances and regulations. (1975 Code Ch. 22 § VI)



 

 

ORDINANCE 2025 - 11 OF THE ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF MENOMONIE FOR 

2025. 

 

An ordinance amending Title 14, Chapter 5, Section 2. C. 5. of the City Code. 

 

THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENOMONIE DO ORDAIN AS 

FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Section 14-5-2 C. 5. of the City Code is hereby amended in its entirety to read as 

follows: 

 

5.   Streets: Streets shall be a minimum of thirty-two feet (32’) wide (as measured from the face of 

curb to the face of curb), with twelve inches (12”) of granular subbase, eight inches (8”) of crushed 

aggregate base, three inches (3”) of hot mix asphalt pavement, and twenty-four inch (24”) wide 

mountable or barrier curb and gutter.  Ribbon curbs with roadside ditches are prohibited.    

 

Section 2. This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of publication as provided in 

Section 62.11(4)(a), Wisconsin Statutes. 

 

INTRODUCED                         APPROVED THIS ________ DAY  

FIRST READING              OF _________________, 2025 

SECOND READING                   

        MAYOR, Randy Knaack 

PASSED        

PUBLISHED             SUBMITTED BY: 

ATTEST             

               CITY CLERK, Catherine Martin   ALDERPERSON 

 

 





MEMORANDUM 
David Schofield, Director of Public Works 

dschofield@menomonie-wi.gov 
715-232-2221 Ext.1020  

 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Knaack & City Council 
 
FROM:  David Schofield, Director of Public Works  
 
SUBJECT: Off Street Parking Ordinance Amendment 
 
DATE:   November 3, 2025 City Council Meeting 
 
 
City Staff recently noted that the City Code 10-4-7-C contains antiquated requirements for off 
street parking.  For example, the code refers to “dust free surfacing”, a term which is never 
defined. 
 
City Staff recommend amending City Code 10-4-7-C as shown in Proposed Ordinance 2025-12.   
 
If the City Council is willing to consider Proposed Ordinance 2025-12, the appropriate motions 
would be:  

• Introduce Proposed Ordinance 2025-12, an Ordinance amending portions of Title 10, 
Chapter 4, Section 7 Off Street Parking (no vote), 

• Refer Proposed Ordinance 2025-12, an Ordinance amending portions of Title 10, 
Chapter 4, Section 7 Off Street Parking, to the Plan Commission for Review and 
Recommendation (simple majority). 

 
If these motions are approved, Proposed Ordinance 2025-12 would be reviewed at the 
November 10 Plan Commission meeting and the December 1 City Council meeting, which will 
include a public hearing. 
 
Attachments:   

• Proposed Ordinance 2025-12 
 



 

 

ORDINANCE 2025 - 12 OF THE ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF MENOMONIE FOR 

2025. 

 

An ordinance amending Title 10, Chapter 4, Section 7 Off Street Parking. 

 

THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENOMONIE DO ORDAIN AS 

FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Section 10-4-7-C of the City Code is hereby amended in its entirety to read as 

follows: 

 

C.   Supplemental Parking And Loading Space Requirements: 

 

1. Each parking space shall be a minimum size of nine feet (9’) wide by eighteen feet (18’) 

long exclusive of aisles, driveways, and walks, and shall not include any portion of a street 

or alley, including its right-of-way.  

2. Each parking space shall be directly accessible from an access aisle or from a street or 

alley.   

3. Access aisles shall be a minimum of twenty-four feet (24’) wide, shall connect to a street 

or alley, and shall include a ten foot (10’) long turnaround extension at dead ends.  

4. Required parking spaces for dwellings, trailer coaches, mobile homes, motels, autocourts, 

and auto camps shall be located on the same premises as the use served. For other uses, 

where this would be unreasonable or an unnecessary hardship, the board of appeals may 

approve the location of a portion of the required stalls on other nearby property. 

5. Required parking spaces provided on a lot or in a building shall be kept clear of other uses 

and obstructions to parking. 

6. All parking spaces shall be graded and drained. 

7. All parking spaces in parking lots containing three (3) or more spaces shall be surfaced 

with concrete or hot mix asphalt.   

8. All parking spaces in parking lots containing less than three (3) parking spaces shall be 

surfaced with concrete, hot mix asphalt, or crushed aggregate base. 

9. All parking lots containing three (3) or more spaces shall be surrounded by six inch (6”) 

tall barrier curb and gutter except at entrances from a street or alley, curb cuts for walkways, 

and curb cuts for drainage.  

 

Section 2. This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of publication as provided in 

Section 62.11(4)(a), Wisconsin Statutes. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

INTRODUCED                         APPROVED THIS ________ DAY  

FIRST READING              OF _________________, 2025 

SECOND READING                   

        MAYOR, Randy Knaack 

PASSED        

PUBLISHED             SUBMITTED BY: 

ATTEST             

               CITY CLERK, Catherine Martin   ALDERPERSON 

 

 





MEMORANDUM 
David Schofield, Director of Public Works 

dschofield@menomonie-wi.gov 
715-232-2221 Ext.1020  

 
 
 
TO:   Mayor Knaack & City Council 
 
FROM:  David Schofield, Director of Public Works  
 
SUBJECT: Site Lighting Ordinance Creation 
 
DATE:   November 3, 2025 City Council Meeting 
 
 
City Staff recently noted that the City Code does not address site lighting, except in the 
Neighborhood Office (B-4) District.   
 
City Staff recommend creating City Code 10-4-11 Site Lighting as shown in Proposed Ordinance 
2025-13.   
 
If the City Council is willing to consider Proposed Ordinance 2025-13, the appropriate motions 
would be:  

• Introduce Proposed Ordinance 2025-13, an Ordinance creating Title 10, Chapter 4, 
Section 11 Site Lighting (no vote), 

• Refer Proposed Ordinance 2025-13, an Ordinance creating Title 10, Chapter 4, Section 
11 Site Lighting, to the Plan Commission for Review and Recommendation (simple 
majority). 

 
If these motions are approved, Proposed Ordinance 2025-13 would be reviewed at the 
November 10 Plan Commission meeting and the December 1 City Council meeting, which will 
include a public hearing. 
 
Attachments:   

• Proposed Ordinance 2025-13 
 



 

 

ORDINANCE 2025 - 13 OF THE ORDINANCES FOR THE CITY OF MENOMONIE FOR 

2025. 

 

An ordinance creating Title 10, Chapter 4, Section 11, Site Lighting. 

 

THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MENOMONIE DO ORDAIN AS 

FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Section 10-4-11 of the City Code is hereby created to read as follows: 

 

10-4-11: SITE LIGHTING: 

 

A. Site lighting, including pole-mounted, building-mounted, and ground-mounted light 

fixtures used to illuminate driveways, parking areas, loading areas, walkways and buildings 

shall be downlit/cut off (horizontal).   

B. Site lighting light fixtures must be equipped with lenses, hoods, or other devices which 

concentrate the illumination upon driveways, loading areas, walkways, and buildings. 

C. A photometric plan shall be provided for any project which includes installation of new 

site lighting or modification of existing site lighting.  Photometric plans shall show: 

1. Property lines; 

2. Proposed site conditions including, but not limited to, driveways, parking areas, 

loading areas, walkways, and buildings;  

3. Proposed light fixtures including model, location, and mounting height; and 

4. Light distribution upon the site and at least ten feet (10’) beyond the property line 

in a grid, and measured by footcandles, rounded to the nearest one-tenth (0.1) of a 

footcandle. 

D. Light distribution shall not exceed one-half (0.5) footcandle ten feet (10’) beyond the 

property line, except at driveway entrances. 

E. Exemptions: The following are exempt from this Section: 

1. Site lighting on any lot that is zoned for, and used as, one-family or two-family 

residential. 

2. Site lighting which existed prior to the effective date of this Ordinance, except if 

the existing site lighting is modified.  

3. Flagpole lighting. 

4. Landscape lighting of less than five hundred (500) lumens per fixture. 

5. Street lighting. 

6. Traffic signals. 

7. Outdoor sport field lighting (including, but not limited to, baseball fields, softball 

fields, soccer fields, football fields, outdoor pools, basketball courts, tennis courts, 

and pickleball courts). 

8. Building entrance and/or exit lighting required by Building Code. 

9. Airport lighting. 

10. City-owned security lighting. 

11. Illuminated signs permitted under Title 9, Chapter 6, of the City Code. 

F. Applicability: The requirements of this Section shall pertain to all zoning districts, except 

as specifically exempted above. 



 

 

Section 2. This ordinance shall take effect upon the date of publication as provided in 

Section 62.11(4)(a), Wisconsin Statutes. 

 

INTRODUCED                         APPROVED THIS ________ DAY  

FIRST READING              OF _________________, 2025 

SECOND READING                   

        MAYOR, Randy Knaack 

PASSED        

PUBLISHED             SUBMITTED BY: 

ATTEST             

               CITY CLERK, Catherine Martin   ALDERPERSON 

 

 





MEMORANDUM 
David Schofield, Director of Public Works 

dschofield@menomonie-wi.gov 
715-232-2221 Ext.1020  

 
 
 

1 
 

TO:   Mayor Knaack & City Council 
 
FROM:  David Schofield, Director of Public Works  
 
SUBJECT: Affordable Housing RFSOQ 
 
DATE:   November 3, 2025 City Council Meeting 
 
 
The City of Menomonie owns a 41 acre parcel 
bounded by Nicholas Drive, Kothlow Avenue and 
Lookout Road near the Stout Technology Park as 
shown on the map to the right.  
 
On August 18, the City Council approved release 
of a Request for Statements of Qualifications 
(RFSOQ) for an Affordable Housing Development 
upon the property.  The RFSOQ was sent to ten 
(10) local developers on August 21 and noticed 
in the newspaper on September 3 and 
September 10.   
 
On October 3, the City received one (1) Statement of Qualification (SOQ), from team of C&M 
Home Builders & Real Estate (C&M) and Capital Investment Partners, LLC (CapVest).  This team 
recently delivered the Estover Terrace subdivision on 11th Avenue E. and 18th Street SE.  A copy 
of their SOQ is attached hereto. 
 
Due to the limited response, City Staff spoke with two of the non-responding developers to see 
what changes would entice them to respond.  They both indicated that they would prefer to 
develop multiple-family rental units rather than single family homes for sale. 
 
City staff recommend revising and reissuing the Affordable Housing Development RFSOQ at a 
later date.  If the City Council concurs, the appropriate motion would be to Reject the 
Affordable Housing Development Statement of Qualification (simple majority). 
 



STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 
 

Affordable Housing Development – City of Menomonie, WI 

C&M Home Builders & Real Estate  •  Capital Investment Partners, LLC 

October 3, 2025 

  



1. Cover Letter 
David Schofield, P.E. 

Director of Public Works 

City of Menomonie 

800 Wilson Avenue 

Menomonie, WI 54751 

 

Dear Mr. Schofield and Members of the Ad Hoc Housing Committee, 

 

On behalf of C&M Home Builders & Real Estate (C&M) and Capital Investment Partners, LLC 

(CIP), we are pleased to submit our Statement of Qualifications for the Affordable Housing 

Development opportunity located on Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map #4967. 

 

Both of our organizations share the City of Menomonie’s vision: to create a high-quality, 

sustainable, affordable owner-occupied and multifamily housing community that fosters 

neighborhood character, community amenities, and long-term homeowner investment. 

With decades of combined experience in Western Wisconsin—and a proven track record of 

working with the City of Menomonie—we are uniquely positioned to bring this project from 

vision to reality. 

 

We welcome the opportunity to partner with the City on this community that will not only 

deliver affordability, but will also establish a model for sustainable, community-oriented 

homeownership in the Chippewa Valley. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Cody Filipczak & Molly Reijo – Principals, C&M Home Builders & Real Estate 

Bill Albright, Trevor Bohland, & Paul Madsen – Principals, Capital Investment Partners, LLC 

2. Developer Team & Key Principals 

C&M Home Builders & Real Estate 

Founded in 2005 by Cody Filipczak and Molly Reijo, C&M has built over 1,500 single-family 

and twin homes across the Chippewa Valley, including 39 units in Menomonie since 2021. 

C&M is recognized for delivering quality, affordable homes with durable construction and 

modern layouts. 

 

In 2024, Cody launched The Cove, an 87-lot manufactured housing community in Eau Claire. 

Though successful, it revealed financing barriers for HUD homes without land ownership. 

This experience led C&M to pivot toward CrossMod housing to combine affordability with 

financing accessibility. 



Capital Investment Partners, LLC 

Capital Investment Partners, LLC was founded in 2007 by William (Bill) Albright and Paul 

Madsen, and joined by Trevor Bohland in 2019. The company has developed, constructed, 

and managed over 300 housing units in Menomonie. Projects include the downtown 

Cobblestone Hotel and Estover Terrace, both supported by City partnerships through TIF. 

CapVest manages over 1,400 multifamily units and constructs an average of 100 new units 

annually. 

 

The leadership team brings broad expertise: 

- Bill Albright: 23+ years in construction/real estate, oversight of more than $475 million in 

projects nationally. 

- Trevor Bohland: CEO with 24 years in banking, former President/CEO of United Bank. 

- Paul Madsen: Co-founder, entrepreneur, and President of RainMaster Lawn Systems. 

3. Experience in Menomonie & Western Wisconsin 
C&M has delivered 39 homes in Menomonie since 2021. CapVest has completed several 

Menomonie projects, including the Cobblestone Hotel and Estover Terrace, both involving 

successful partnerships with the City. Together, the team has extensive experience with the 

region’s housing needs, municipal processes, and affordability challenges. 

4. Experience with Project Pillars 
Affordable: C&M has consistently delivered homes targeted to workforce and first-time 

buyers. Our CrossMod strategy maintains affordability while enabling conventional 

mortgage financing. 

 

Community-Oriented: Past projects emphasize walkability, streetscapes, porches, and trails. 

The proposed plan includes trails, tree-lined streets, and green space. 

 

Sustainable: Both companies have experience with HOA structures, restrictive covenants, 

and energy-efficient construction practices. 

 

Owner-Occupied: C&M specializes in owner-occupied models. The CrossMod approach 

ensures permanence, mortgage financing access, and long-term neighborhood stability. 



5. Conceptual Layout (Preliminary) 

 

Our Preliminary Conceptual Master Plan illustrates an early vision for Lot 1 of CSM #4967. 

This plan is conceptual only and will be refined in collaboration with the City of Menomonie. 

 

 



The current plan features: 

- Approximately 49 single-family lots, each averaging 75' x 150'. 

- Approximately 4.5 acres of multi-family residential. 

- Tree-lined streets, sidewalks, and front-porch design elements. 

- Preservation of wetlands and wooded areas, with walking trails and the potential for a 

nature trail or boardwalk. 

- Homes priced for households at or below 80% of Area Median Income. 

 

This preliminary concept reflects the City’s Project Pillars while maintaining flexibility for 

final design and permitting. 

6. Development Timeline & Readiness 
The development team is prepared to meet the City’s outlined schedule: 

 

- Option agreement by December 31, 2025. 

- Land sale and start of construction by September 1, 2026. 

- Completion of all residential units will be subject to market demand & absorption.   

 

C&M and Capital Investment Partners have the organizational capacity, financial strength, 

and established trade partners to deliver this project on schedule. 

7. Conclusion & Contacts 
The partnership of C&M and Capital Investment Partners combines proven local 

development experience, financial capacity, and a commitment to affordability and 

sustainability. Together, we are ready to partner with the City of Menomonie to deliver a 

transformative new housing community. 

 

Primary Contacts: 

• C&M Home Builders & Real Estate — Cody Filipczak & Molly Reijo 

• Capital Investment Partners, LLC — Bill Albright / Trevor Bohland / Paul Madsen 

 

 

  



Appendix – Project Portfolio 
  



Briar Hill – Eau Claire, WI (2015–2019) 
 

 

 

29 single-family home development, urban setting in Eau Claire with wooded lots and 

shared greenspace. 

  



Trillium – Eau Claire, WI (2016–2020) 
 

 

 

42 single-family and commercial development, semi-rural south of Eau Claire with wooded 

lots, a community park, and walking trails. 

  



ClubView – Altoona, WI (2013–2022) 
 

 

 

149 single-family and twin home development with walking trails and shared greenspace. 

  



Hillcrest – Altoona, WI (2019–2025) 
 

 

 

122 single-family, multi-family, and commercial development with community parks, 

walking trails, and an HOA. 

  



Creekside – Fall Creek, WI (2023–Present) 
 

 

 

87 single-family and twin home development featuring community greenspace and owner-

occupied housing starting under $300,000. 

  



CapVest Project Portfolio 
  



 

  



 

  



 

  



 

  



 











2025 Claims Description Total Invoice Amt Overdrawn
24-7 TELCOM MAYOR - TELEPHONE $2,122.73 $27.89
CITY TREASURER SEWER UTILITY - WATER & SEWER $39,126.02 $7,582.32
EO JOHNSON FIRE - OFFICE EQUIP. MAINT CONTRACT $63.00 $63.00
PRIMADATA WATER UTILITY - POSTAGE $556.51 $139.12
MACQUEEN EQUIPMENT INC SEWER UTILITY - MAINT OF COL SYSTEM - MATERIALS/SUPPLIES $425.28 $195.79
NCL OF WISCONSIN INC SEWER UTILITY - LAB OPER. SUPPLIES & EXPENSE - LAB CHEMICALS & SUP $571.94 $571.94
WELD RILEY ATTORNEY - LEGAL COUNSEL; MAYOR- CONSULTING SERVICES $22,586.00 $4,050.00

Total $65,451.48 $12,630.06

Parking Utility Claims 2025 Description Total Invoice
CITY TREASURER PARKING-WATER & SEWER CHGS $39,126.02 $468.75

Total $39,126.02 $468.75

**Revised 10/28/2025

NOV 3, 2025 COUNCIL CLAIMS



CITY OF MENOMONIE COUNCIL MEETING

LICENSES – November 3, 2025

LICENSE YEAR – 2025-2026

TEMPORARY CLASS “B” BEER LICENSE & “CLASS B” WINE LICENSE:

Menomonie Public Library Foundation – 600 Wolske Bay Road

 11/08/2025, Foundation Annual Donor Appreciation Event


	00_Agenda 11.3.25
	01_Staff Comments 11.3.25
	02_City Council Minutes 10.20.2025
	04_A_20251029 Draft Budget
	05_A_20251019_Dunn County Humance Society
	05_B_20251103_Ordinance 2025-10_Bridge to Hope Rezoning City Council Memo
	05_C_20251103_Ordinance 2025-11 Subdivision Improvements Ordinance Amendment_City Council Memo
	05_D_20251103_Ordinance 2025-12_Off Street Parking Ordinance Amendment_City Council Memo
	05_E_20251103_Ordinance 2025-13_Site Lighting Ordinance Amendment_City Council Memo
	05_F_20251103_Affordable Housing SOQ City Council Memo
	05_G_20251022_Winter Daze Parade Special Event Permit
	09_Claims_20251028
	10_Licenses_20251029

